IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 96-40051

MARTI N BELLOWS,
on Behal f of Ph

I vi dual Iy and
il
Constructors, Inc.

ndi

lips Industrial

’ Pl ai ntiff-Appel | ee,
ver sus

AMOCO O L COWPANY; ET AL,
Def endant s,

AMOCO O L COWPANY, TEXAS
Cl TY REFI NERY,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court for the
Sout hern District of Texas

July 16, 1997
Bef ore GARWOOD, W ENER and DEMOSS, Circuit Judges.
GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Plaintiffs Martin J. Bellow (Bellow) and Phillips Industrial
Constructors, Inc. (PIClI), a Texas corporation, brought this
| awsuit agai nst defendant Anoco Q| Conpany, Texas City refinery
(Anmoco), alleging that Anoco discrimnated against them on the
basis of their race by term nating, nodifying, or changing their

right to contract in violation of 42 U S C § 1981. A jury

. Bellow s nanme was msspelled (“Bellows”) in the origina
pl eadi ngs and, consequently, in the caption of the case as well.
This caption m sspelling was never corrected bel ow



returned a verdict in favor of Bellow, awarding him $50,000 in
“subj ective damages” and $225,000 i n punitive damages. W reverse.
Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

Bel | ow, an African-Anerican, began working in the construction
busi ness in 1970, working primarily in Texas Cty, Texas, and the
surroundi ng Gul f Coast area specializing in civil construction and
equi pnent operati ons. In 1974, Bellow net Harold Phillips
(Phillips), a Caucasian, while they both worked for the sane
construction conpany. They instantly becane friends, and over the
next several years Bellow and Phillips continued to work together,
first at the MW Kellogg Conpany, then at Byrd Construction, and
|ater at Callie Construction.

In the summer of 1978, Phillips left Callie Construction and,
with his wfe, formed his own construction firm PIC, a
corporation organi zed under Texas law. During the first six nonths
of its operation, PICI had difficulty obtaining construction work.?2
In early 1979, Phillips |learned that Anbco was seeking qualified
m nority-owned construction firns to perform naintenance and
construction work at its Texas City refinery. To take advantage of
this opportunity, Phillips approached Bellow in March 1979 and
offered hima 51% ownership interest in PICI. Bellow accepted the
offer and becane the president of PICI, while Phillips becane

PICI’s vice-president and general mnmanager, owning 49% of the

2 During those six nonths, PICI managed to secure only two
smal | construction jobs valued at |ess than $20, 000.
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corporation’s stock.® On March 3, 1979, Bellow and Phillips wote
aletter to Anoco informng it of PICI’s new status as a mnority-
owned construction firm Soon thereafter, PICl began receiving
general mai ntenance and constructi on work from Anpco.

Begi nning in 1979, and |asting throughout the 1980s, PICl’'s
busi ness relationship with Anbco fl ourished. During this tine,
al nost all of PICI’s business involved work from Anoco’s refinery.
PICI performed a variety of civil construction and related
mai nt enance work for Anobco, producing several mllions of dollars
i n annual gross revenues for PICI (the anended conpl aint alleges
that PICI’s gross receipts fromthe Aroco refinery total ed over 32
mllion dollars from January 1985 through June 1994). Bel | ow
worked primarily in the field as a superintendent overseeing the
work of PICI crews at the refinery, while Phillips was responsible
mai nly for the day-to-day adm nistrative duties at the office.

PI Cl ' s decade of prosperity canme to an end, however. Sonetinme
during the md-1980s, Anobco began reevaluating its use of
contractors and suppliers at the Texas Cty refinery. At one
poi nt, over 3,000 contractors and suppliers perforned work for the
refinery. In an effort to inprove its nonitoring of contractors
and increase its efficiency, Anbco decided to reduce the nunber of
contractors through “contract consolidation.” Under this

consol i dation process, Anbco decided to use a single, primary

3 Bel |l ow acquired 5,100 shares of the stock and Phillips
retai ned 4,900 shares. Because Phillips had already invested
$9,000 in the corporation, Bellow agreed to work for six nonths
W t hout pay in exchange for the 5,100 shares of stock.
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contractor to perform nost of the construction and related
mai nt enance work that its own personnel could not handle.* In
1989, Anpbco beganinformngits construction contractors, including
PICI, that it would begin using Brown & Root Industrial Services
(BRIS) as its prinmary outside maintenance contractor.® Under its
new contract consolidation policy, construction jobs would first be
assi gned to Anoco personnel. |f Anpbco personnel were unavail abl e,
the job would be assigned to BRI S. If BRIS did not have the
personnel available or |acked the expertise for a particul ar job,
Anmoco’s Contracts group would either bid the job to outside

contractors® or hire a contractor under a cost-plus contract.’

4 According to Richard Evans, vice-president of refining and
engi neering at Anpbco, Anbco’s conpetitors at the tinme had al ready
moved in the direction of using a single contractor.

5 It was undi sputed that none of the individual defendants in
this case had a hand in Anroco’ s contract consolidation decision or
the decision to hire BRIS as the new primary contractor. Also

Bel | ow conceded at trial that Anbco’s decision to utilize BRI'S as
the primary outside general naintenance contractor was not
notivated by racial aninus.

6 At Anopco, two groups worked directly with outside contractors
such as PICI. The Contracts Adm nistration group (Contracts group)
i n the purchasi ng departnent was responsi bl e for awardi ng contracts
to outside contractors, including the selection of contractors,
providing the ternms of the contract, and authorizing paynent to
contractors. The other group was the Plant Support and Contracting
group (PS&C group) in the maintenance departnent. The PS&C group
was responsible for nonitoring all construction and nai ntenance
contractors while they perforned their work, and for scheduling and
initiating to the Contracts group all requests for construction and
mai nt enance servi ces.

! There were three nethods by which Anpbco retained services of
a construction and mai ntenance contractor |like PICl. The first
met hod was by a “cost-plus” contract. Cost-plus contracts were
generally awarded for a particular, specific job or assignnent
W t hout bi ddi ng. The second nethod was by conpetitive bidding.
However, to avoid overlap of charges for services rendered on cost -
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Beginning in 1990, PICI and other general maintenance
contractors experienced a dramatic decline in their general
mai nt enance work.® Because Anbco personnel and BRI'S consuned the
bul k of Anbco’s maintenance jobs, little work was left over for
PI Cl and ot her mmi ntenance contractors. |In 1991, PICI's work | oad
decreased even further when Anpbco decided not to renew PICl’s
service agreenments—the primary source of PICI's work.® From 1991
to 1994, PIClI perforned whatever cost-plus work it could obtain.
PICI was invited to bid on several jobs when it did not have any
cost-plus contract work in the refinery; however, PICI was rarely
a successful bidder, as its bids were usually too high. PICls
annual gross revenues from Anoco work dropped from approxi mately
$3.5 mllion in 1990 to $209,537 in 1994 and $0 for the first half
of 1995. 10

pl us jobs, conpanies currently perform ng cost-plus contract work
were not allowed to bid on jobs. Because PIClI preferred to do
cost-plus work, they seldom perfornmed bid work. The third nethod
for retaining a contractor was with a year-to-year | abor contract.
PI CI had several service agreenents with Anpco, including a general
mai nt enance contract, a refinery labor crew contract, a
contam nated soil agreenent, and an outside |ot now ng contract.

8 O these contractors, only PICI was a mnority-owned firm

o See note 7, supra. The PICl service agreenents that were
cancel ed i ncluded a general nai ntenance contract, a refinery |abor
agreenent, a contam nated soil agreenent, and an outside | ot now ng
contract. Bellow conceded at trial that Anoco’ s decisions not to
renew PICl’s contracts in 1991 were nmade for reasons unrelated to
Bellow s race. According to Bellow, “ny conplaint is not that they
cancel ed our contract. My conplaint is the way they treated us
when we did work in [the refinery].”

10 PICI conpleted its final cost-plus contracts sonetine in
April 1994, and neither Bellow nor PICI perfornmed any work for
Anmoco after April 1994.



At around the sane tinme that Anpco inplenmented its new
contract consolidation policy, Bellow started to notice that Anbco
was treating him in a manner which he believed to be
discrimnatory. Specifically, Bellow believed that Jerry Jordan
(Jordan), an Anoco enpl oyee who worked as a supervisor both with

the Contracts group and the PS&C group, was on a mssion to “run
him out of the refinery” solely because Bellow was African-
Anerican. ! The specific incidents of racial discrimnation
attributed to Jordan include the followng: (1) in 1989, Jordan
told Phillips that he believed Bell ow made too nmuch noney as a
field superintendent; (2) in 1989, Bellow | earned from Phillips,
who in turn had been so infornmed by Albert De Los Santos (De Los
Santos), another Anobco contractor, that Jordan had told De Los
Santos “Al bert, whenever you drive a white Cadillac or a Lincoln
[like Bel low s wife], I'll stop doing business with you because you
done made too nuch noney”; (3) in 1990, when Bell ow conplained to
Jordan about racist comments made by Sherman McNown (McNown), an
Anmoco Tur naround Superintendent, Jordan told Bellow that he could
not do anyt hi ng because he (Jordan) was prejudi ced agai nst African-
Anericans; '? (4) between 1991 and 1994, when Jordan was supervi sor

of the PS&C group, Emmanuel Moore (More), a contracts specialist

with the Anpbco purchasing departnment, received conplaints from

1 Jordan worked as a contract specialist wwth the Contracts
group from 1987 to 1990. From QOctober 1990 to Septenber 1991, he
was the supervisor of the Contracts group. In Septenber 1991, he

becane the supervisor of the PS&C group

12 Apparently, McNown and anot her Anpbco enpl oyee, Dewey Bail ey,
called Bellow a “nigger” on one occasion.
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Anpco job representatives that Jordan was treating PICI differently
because of Bellow s race; (5) in 1993, Jordan told Melvin Hagler
(Hagler), an Anpbco job representative, at a job representatives
nmeeting to make sure PICI workers left the refinery as soon as they
finished their jobs; (6) in 1993 or 1994, Hagler told Bellow that
Jordan did not like himand that “Jerry is going to get you”; (7)
in 1994, Hagler told Bellow that he overheard Jordan telling
another job representative, Howard Luster (Luster), that he
(Jordan) would “run [Bellow s] nigger ass off”; and (8) on March
17, 1994, Jordan canceled a job that had been assigned to PICl
earlier that norning.?®

On Septenber 7, 1994, Bellowfiled this lawsuit, “individually
and on behalf of” PICI, in the district court below asserting
clains against Ampbco and Jordan under 42 U S.C. 88 1981 and

1985(3), ! as wel |l as under Texas lawfor tortious interference with

13 According to Jordan, he canceled the job after he had
determ ned that an Anbco crew woul d soon conpl ete anot her job and
woul d be available to take the job assigned to PICI. A few days
after Jordan canceled PICI’s job, Bellow filed with the Equa
Enpl oynent Qpportunity Conm ssi on (EEQC) a charge of discrimnation
agai nst Anoco. The EEOC di sm ssed the conplaint after it |earned
that Bel |l ow was not an enpl oyee of Anoco.

14 Section 1981 provides in relevant part:
“8§ 1981. Equal rights under the |aw
(a) Statenent of equal rights

All persons within the jurisdiction of the United
States shall have the sane right in every State and
Territory to nake and enforce contracts, to sue, be
parties, give evidence, and to the full and equal benefit
of all |aws and proceedings for the security of persons
and property as is enjoyed by white citizens, and shal
be subject to |ike punishnent, pains, penalties, taxes,
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the right to contract and intentional infliction of enotional
di stress. On January 11, 1995, an anended conplaint was filed
adding PICI as a separate plaintiff, so that the plaintiffs becane
Bellow and PICl, ! and adding Shernman MNown, Dewey Bailey, and

Larry Bl ow!® as defendants. Under their section 1981 clains,

Ii censes, and exactions of every kind, and to no other.
(b) *Make and enforce contracts’ defined

For purposes of this section, the term ‘ make and

enforce contracts’ includes the naking, perfornmance,
nodi fication, and termnation of contracts, and the
enjoynent of all benefits, privileges, terns, and
conditions of the contractual relationship.” 42 U S C
§ 1981.

Section 1985(3) provides in relevant part:
“8§ 1985. Conspiracy to interfere with civil rights
(éj Depriving persons of rights or privileges

If two or nore persons in any State or Territory
conspire, or go in disguise on the highway or on the
prem ses of another, for the purpose of depriving, either
directly or indirectly, any person or class of persons of
the equal protection of the | aws, or of equal privileges
and immunities under the laws . . . in any case of
conspiracy set forth in this section, if one or nore
persons engaged therein do, or cause to be done, any act
in furtherance of the object of such conspiracy, whereby
another isinjured in his person or property, or deprived
of having and exercising any right or privilege of a
citizen of the United States, the party so injured or
deprived may have an action for the recovery of danmages,
occasi oned by such i njury or deprivation, agai nst any one
or nore of the conspirators.” 42 U S.C. § 1985(3).

15 Al t hough t he anended conpl ai nt added PICl as a separate party
plaintiff, the caption of the case was never changed in the court
record to reflect this anmendnent.

16 Larry Blow (Blow) is a supervisor with the building and
mai nt enance departnent at Anpco. Bellow alleged that Bl ow, under
Jordan’s instructions, told Bellow that PICI did not have a
contract on a particular job when, in fact, it did have a contract.
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plaintiffs Bell owand PICl all eged that Anbco nodi fi ed, changed, or
termnated PICI's contracts wwth Anoco and Bellow s contract with
PICI. Bellow never contracted with Anmbco personally, and he did
not bring a section 1981 cl ai magai nst Anroco for interference with
his contractual rights with Anpco.

Thereafter, and before the case was submtted to the jury, the
court dismssed plaintiffs’ section 1985(3) clains, their section
1981 cl ai ns agai nst the individual defendants, and their state | aw
clains against all defendants. The only clains submtted to the
jury were plaintiffs’ section 1981 cl ai ns agai nst Anbco. The jury
found that Anoco did not discrimnate against PICH on the basis of
its race by interferingwithits right to contract wth Aroco. The
jury did find, however, that Anmpbco discrimnated against Bell ow
because of his race “in termnating, nodifying or changing Martin
Bellow s right to contract with Phillips Industrial Constructors,
Inc.,” and awarded Bellow $50,000 in “subjective danmages” and
$225,000 in punitive danages.'” Anpbco tinely filed its notice of
appeal to this Court.?!®

Di scussi on
| .

On appeal, Anpbco contends that the district court erred in

17 Plaintiffs filed a notion for an award of attorneys’ fees.
The district court stayed consideration of the attorneys’ fees
application pending final resolution of the case on appeal.

18 Nei t her PIClI nor Bell ow has appeal ed the judgnent in favor
of Anmobco on PICl’s clainms against it or the judgnent in favor of
Anmoco on all of Bellow s other clains (his clains other than his
section 1981 cl ai magai nst Anobco for interfering with his asserted
contract, or right to contract, with PICl) agai nst Anpco.
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denyi ng Anpco’s notion for judgnent as a matter of |aw because
Bel | ow never had a contract with PICI and, therefore, Anoco could
not have possibly interfered with Bellow s right to contract with
PICl; even if Bellow did have a contract with PICI, there is no
evi dence that Anpbco term nated, nodi fied, or changed t hat contract;
and the evidence is insufficient to support the jury’s concl usion
that Anbco intentionally discrimnated agai nst Bell ow on the basis
of his race. Anmoco also argues that the evidence does not
sufficiently support the $50,000 in “subjective damages” and
$225,000 in punitive damages.

W revi ew de novo the denial of Anbco’s notion for judgnent as
a matter of |aw, applying the sane standards as those applied by
the trial court. Canutillo Independent School Dist. v. Leija, 101
F.3d 393, 396 (5th Gr. 1996). W review factual issues for the
presence of substantial evidence supporting the verdict and | egal
i ssues de novo. Heller Financial, Inc. v. Gamto Conputer Sales,
Inc., 71 F.3d 518, 523 (5th Gr. 1996). A notion for judgnent as
a matter of |aw should be granted by the trial court if, after
considering all the evidence in the light and with all reasonable
i nferences nost favorable to the party opposed to the notion, the
facts and i nferences point so strongly and overwhel m ngly in favor
of one party that the court concludes that reasonable jurors could
not arrive at a contrary verdict.! Boeing Co. v. Shipman, 411 F. 2d

365, 374 (5th CGr. 1969), overrul ed on other grounds, Gautreaux v.

19 Anoco tinely noved for judgnent as a matter of law at the
close of the plaintiffs’ case-in-chief and at the close of all the
evi dence.
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Scurl ock Marine, Inc., 107 F.3d 331 (5th GCr. 1997) (en banc).
1.

Section 1981 provides that “[a]ll persons wthin the
jurisdiction of the United States shall have the same right in
every State and Territory to nake and enforce contracts . . . asis
enjoyed by white citizens.” 42 U.S.C. § 1981(a). The phrase “make
and enforce contracts” is defined to include “the nmaking,
performance, nodification, and termnation of contracts, and the
enjoynent of all benefits, privileges, terns, and conditions of the
contractual relationship.”? 42 U S. C. § 1981(b).

To prevail wunder section 1981, the plaintiff nust prove a
prima facie case of intentional discrimnation. Wllace v. Texas
Tech Univ., 80 F.3d 1042, 1047 (5th Cr. 1996). The plaintiff may
establish a prinma facie case by direct evidence or, nore commonly,
by circunstanti al evidence of discrimnatory notive. Harrington v.
Harris, 108 F.3d 598, 606 (5th Gr. 1997); Willace, 80 F.3d at
1047-48. To establish a section 1981 claim the plaintiff nust
show that (1) he or she is a nenber of a racial mnority; (2) the
def endant had an intent to discrimnate on the basis of race; and
(3) the discrimnation concerned one or nore of the activities

enunerated in the statute; in this case, the maki ng and enforcing

20 In Patterson v. MlLean Credit Union, 109 S.C. 2363 (1989),
the Suprene Court held that post-contract formation all egations of
racially discrimnatory conduct were not actionable under section
1981, as section 1981 only governs racial discrimnation in the
“maki ng” of contracts and the right to “enforce” the contract. |d.
at 2372-74. Through the Cvil R ghts Act of 1991, enacted Novenber
21, 1991, Congress expanded section 1981 to include post-contract
formati on cl ai ns.
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of a contract.?® See Geen v. State Bar of Texas, 27 F.3d 1083,
1086 (5th Cir. 1994).
L1l

As a threshold matter, we observe that this Court has not yet
deci ded whether a plaintiff has a cause of action under section
1981 against a third party for interference with the plaintiff’s
right to nake and enforce contracts. |Indeed, on at | east one prior
occasi on we have suggested that such a clai mmy not be covered by
section 1981. See Geen, 27 F.3d at 1086-87 (explaining that the
plaintiff failed to state a clai munder section 1981, as he di d not
“conplain that [defendant] refused to contract with him or that
[it] sonehow i npeded his right to enforce a contract in either the
courts or nonjudicial avenues,” but nerely alleged “that the
def endant refused to honor a third-party contract he had with his
clients”). Thus, we express sone doubt as to whether Bell ow has,
inthe first instance, presented a cogni zabl e cl ai munder section
1981.

Bel | ow contends that we held in Faraca v. Cenents, 506 F.2d
956 (5th Cir. 1975), that third party interference clains are
acti onabl e under section 1981. We do not read Faraca so broadly.
In Faraca, the plaintiffs successfully sued the director of the
Ceorgia Retardation Center under section 1981, alleging that the
director refused to hire Faraca, a Caucasi an, because his w fe was

African- Anerican. On appeal, we affirned the judgnent, concl udi ng

21 O course, as an African-Anerican, Bellow is a racial
mnority covered by section 1981.
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that the director could be held personally liable under section
1981 for interfering with the plaintiffs’ right to contract with
their prospective enployer, the State of Georgia. The director in
Faraca was only nomnally a third party. In substance, because he
was acting on behalf of the state when he decided not to hire
Far aca—t hus naki ng his hiring decision indistinguishable fromthat
of the state—the director and the state were essentially one and
the same. Cf. Al -Khazraji v. Saint Francis College, 784 F.2d 505,
518 (3d Cir. 1986) (holding that plaintiff could bring section 1981
cl ai m agai nst individual nenbers of tenure commttee for denying
plaintiff tenure if individuals were personally involved in the
discrimnation and if they intentionally caused the college to
violate plaintiff’s right to contract), aff’d on other grounds, 107
S.C. 2022 (1987). Conversely, Anoco never had any such
relationship with PICI or Bellow. Anmpbco exercised no control and
had no authority over the contracting decisions of PICI or Bellow
Unlike the situation in Faraca, where the third party and
prospective contracting party were the sanme party, Anpco isS
separate and distinct fromPICl, Bellow s contracting party. Since
Faraca, this Court has not offered any opinion as to whether al
third party interference clains are acti onabl e under section 1981,
and we decline to rule on this issue today. ??

| nstead, we | eave for anot her day the resol ution of that issue

22 At |east one other circuit has also expressly declined to
rule on this issue. See Jordan v. Canpbell-Taggart, Inc., 902 F. 2d
28 (tab.), No. 87-3595, 1990 W. 51819, at *2-*3 (4th Cr. April 17,
1990) .
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because even assum ng, arguendo, that Bellow s claimfalls within
the anmbit of section 1981, Bellow nevertheless is not entitled to
any recovery because he has failed to satisfy the third el enent of
his section 1981 claim—that is, that the discrimnation concerned
one or nore of the activities enunerated in the statute.
Specifically, even assum ng that the evidence justifies a finding
that Bell ow had sone unspecified character of inplied contractua
relationship with PICI, there is clearly no evidence that Anobco
ever nodified, changed, or term nated that rel ationship or Bellow s
right to contract with PICl

Al t hough we assune, for purposes of this appeal, that Bell ow
had sone undefined character of inplied contract with PICI, we note
that the record is conspicuously devoid of any evidence of any
express contract between Bellow and PICl.?2 At trial, Bellow
produced no docunent and presented no testinony evidencing the
terms, provisions, or conditions of any contractual relationship
bet ween himand PICl.

Bell ow s nere ownership interest in and position as president
of PICI does not, in and of itself, suffice to establish a
contractual relationshinp. Al t hough Bellow, by virtue of his
position as president of PICI, assuned certain |legal obligations to
hi s conpany under state |aw, see, e.g., Gearhart Industries, Inc.
v. Smith iIntern., Inc., 741 F. 2d 707, 719-21 (5th G r. 1984), these

obligations arose fromhis fiduciary relationship with PICI, not

23 Bel | ow has never all eged that he personally had or sought to
have any contractual relationship with Anbco; he has all eged only
that he had a contract with PICl

14



from any contractual relationship. See generally F.D.1.C .
Dawson, 4 F.3d 1303, 1307 (5th Gr. 1993) (distinguishing between
breach of fiduciary duty claim and breach of contract claim for
statute of limtations purposes), cert. denied, 114 S. C. 2673
(1994); accord Kansa Reinsurance Co., Ltd. v. Congressional
Mortgage Corp. of Texas, 20 F.3d 1362, 1374 (5th GCr. 1994).
Al t hough we do not doubt that a president of a corporation can (and
perhaps wusually does) have an enploynent contract wth the
corporation, in this case, where the president al so happens to be
the 51% owner of the conpany, and the conpany’ s executive vice
presi dent owns the other 49% and where there i s no evidence of any
express contract of any kind (witten or oral) between the
corporation and the president, it may not sinply be assuned that
such a contract existed. Bellow has cited no authority, nor has
our own research revealed any, suggesting that an individual’s
status as nmmjority sharehol der and president of a corporation

W thout nore, gives rise to a contractual rel ationship between the
i ndi vidual and the corporation.

Bel |l ow argues that he was paid on an hourly basis which,
according to him conclusively proves that he had an enpl oynent
contract with PICl. The record flatly contradicts Bellow s
assertion, as the evidence shows that he was not paid by the hour,
but rather was paid a fixed weekly salary. Bel | ow presented no
evidence indicating that he received an hourly wage, nor did he
establish what his hourly pay was or whether PIClI docked his pay

for time mssed. |ndeed, the evidence shows that Bell ow exerci sed
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consi derabl e di scretion over his salary, as he and Phillips jointly
deci ded how nmuch they were paid and how nuch of a bonus they would
receive in any given year. Although Bell ow occasionally received
overtinme pay for working after hours and on weekends, Bellow
presented no evidence at trial describing how much he was paid per
hour for overtinme work (or how this was determ ned).

| V.

Even assum ng, arguendo, that Bellow did in fact have a
contract with PICl which Anbco could have interfered with, Bell ow
woul d still be unable to recover any danages because he has fail ed
to present any evidence that Anmpbco did in fact interfere with the
contract. There is no evidence that Bellow s relationship wth
PICl, contractual or otherw se, was in any way changed, nodifi ed,
altered, termnated, or otherwise affected by any of Anpco’'s
actions. Nor is there any evidence that PIClI ever failed or
refused to honor or conply with any request by Bellowto PIC for
it to enter into any contract with Bell ow | nstead, what the
record does showis that Bellowremained at all tinmes the 51% owner
and president of PICI before, during, and after the alleged
di scri m natory conduct by Anpbco.?* See, e.g., Police Ass’'n of New
Oleans v. City of New Oleans, 100 F.3d 1159, 1170-71 (5th Cr.
1996) (explaining that “[i]n decidi ng whet her a change of position
rises to the level of a new and distinct relation [under section

1981], the court nust conpare the enployee’'s current duties,

24 | ndeed, the anended conplaint alleges that Bellow is the
“President and Chief Executive Oficer” of PIC
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salary, and benefits with those incident to the new position”);
Harris v. Associates Corp. of North America, 917 F.2d 195, 197-98
(5th Gr. 1990) (sane); see generally Mirris v. Ofice Max, Inc.,
89 F.3d 411, 414 (7th Cr. 1996) (stating that “[a] claim for
interference with the right to make and enforce a contract nust
all ege the actual loss of a contract interest”).

In support of his contention that Anpbco interfered with his
asserted contract wth PICI, Bellowdirects this Court’s attention
to the July 1989 incident where Jordan expressed concerns about
Bel |l ow s excessive conpensation to Phillips and suggested that
Bel | ow spend Il ess tine at the Anbco refinery. As the record shows,
al though Phillips and Bell ow di scussed the possibility of having
Bel | ow spend nore tinme in the office, they ultinmately deci ded that
Bellow would remain in his capacity as field superintendent on
Anpco | obs. That Bell ow continued to supervise workers in the
field, despite Jordan’s recomendati on, denonstrates not only that
Bellow s relationship with PICI remined unchanged, but also
i ndi cates that Anpbco could not, even had it wanted to, interfere
wth Bellows relationship (or contract, if any) wth PIC.
Certainly, there is no evidence show ng ot herw se.

Bell ow al so points to his decrease in inconme as evidence of
Anpco’ s asserted contractual interference. Wiile it may true that
Bell ow s i ncone suffered after Anbco allegedly interfered with his
asserted contractual relationship with PICI, this loss of incone
was not a result of any change in his relationship or status with

PI Cl —as he continued to be PICI’s 51% owner, president, and chi ef
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executive officer—but rather was caused by the fact that PICI no
| onger received the sanme high volune of work from Anoco. Bell ow
performed | ess work and received a snmaller inconme not because of
any decision by PICI to reduce his hours or to cut his salary, but
because PICl received | ess work fromAnoco. As PICl had | ess work,
it necessarily follows that Bellow, PICI’s president and majority
owner, also would have less work and, hence, less incone.?
Al t hough Bel | ow may not have nmade as nuch noney as he did when Pl Cl
recei ved | arge volunes of work from Anbco on a consistent basis,
there is no evidence that once Anbco’'s asserted discrimnatory
endeavor began and PICl's annual revenues plumeted, that PICl
reduced Bell ow s weekly salary while requiring himto work the sane
nunber of hours, that PICl stopped neasuring his overtine pay based
on extra hours worked, or that PICI in any other way nodified or
changed his conpensation structure. And, as nentioned above,
Bellow at all tinmes remained PICI’'s 51% owner and president.
Stripped of its veneer, Bell ow s argunent, in essence, is that
Amoco interfered with his right to contract wth PICI by
interfering with PICI’s contracts or ability to contract wth
Anoco. The obvious problem Bellow faces with this argunent, of
course, is that the jury found that Anpbco did not interfere with

PICI’s contracts, or ability to contract, with Anbco on the basis

25 Moreover, the district court specifically instructed the
jury, wthout objection by Bellow, that Bellow could not recover
any damages “for |ost inconme, wages or other earnings” caused by
Anoco’ s al |l eged di scrim nation.
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of race. ?"

Mor eover, because Bellow s claim against Anbco is nerely
derivative of PICI's cause of action, Bellow has no individua
section 1981 claim agai nst Anopco. In this regard, we find our
decision in Searcy v. Houston Lighting & Power Co., 907 F.2d 562
(5th Cr.), cert. denied, 111 S. C. 438 (1990), dispositive. In
Searcy, the president/sole sharehol der of an energy resource firm
that produced and supplied natural gas sued various utility
conpanies for refusing to enter into long-term natural gas supply
contracts with the energy firm The plaintiff and his conpany each
sued the utility conpani es under section 1981. W held that the
plaintiff could not bring his individual section 1981 cl ai mbecause
the discrimnation could only be asserted to invade the |ega
rights of the corporation and not the rights of the plaintiff, the
conpany’s sol e shareholder. |d. at 565.

Simlarly, in this case the legal right that Bell ow asserts
Anmoco violated—that is, the right to contract free from racia
di scrimnation—s indistinguishable fromPICl’s right to contract
under section 1981. The Amobco work that Bellow |ost which
purportedly gave rise to Bellow s section 1981 clai mwas the exact
sanme Anoco work that PICI lost. |Indeed, Bellow has not alleged,
nor does the record reflect, any violation of his contract rights
or rights to contract that differs fromthe viol ations cl ai ned by
PI CI agai nst Anbco. See, e.g., Gegory v. Mtchell, 634 F.2d 199,
202 (5th Cr. 1981) (holding that shareholders in bank could not

26 And, Bel |l ow does not challenge this finding.
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mai ntain section 1983 action in respect to treatnent of bank as
only the bank suffered any cognizable injury); Schaffer v.
Universal Rundle Corp., 397 F.2d 893, 896 (5th Cr. 1968)
(expl aining that a “stockholder’s rights are nerely derivative and
can be asserted only through the corporation” and that this “rule
is applicable in cases where the individual 1is the sole
sharehol der”). Thus, because Bell ow suffered no violation of his
contract rights or rights to contract which differs from the
violations clained by PICI, we conclude that Bellow has no
i ndi vi dual cause of action under section 1981 agai nst Anpbco.?’ See
Flynn v. Merrick, 881 F.2d 446, 449-50 (7th Cr. 1989) (hol ding
t hat individual stockhol ders and debenture hol ders could not bring
suit under 42 U S C 8§ 1983 for damages suffered by the
corporation); Cates v. International Tel. & Tel. Corp., 756 F.2d
1161, 1181-83 (5th Cr. 1985) (holding that partner had no
i ndi vidual cause of action for breach of contract, interference
Wi th partnership business, |oss of value of partnership interest,
| oss of inconme, salary or bonus, and danmage to reputation and
prospecti ve busi ness advant age suffered by partnership); Stevens v.
Lowder, 643 F.2d 1078, 1080 (5th Cr. 1981) (holding that bank’s
sharehol ders could not recover for fraud, breach of confidential

relati onshi p, and conspiracy agai nst purchasers of bank’s assets

21 Al t hough Bel | ow cl ai ned that he sustai ned enotional danages
that were different from PICI's econom ¢ danages, his enotiona
damages result from the sane violation that gave rise to PICl’s
econom ¢ danmages—Anoco’s alleged violation of PICI's right to
contract. Bellow does not have an individual claimfor an all eged
violation by Anmoco of PICI’s section 1981 rights, whether or not
Bel | ow suffered enotional damage as a result thereof.
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because di m nution in val ue of bank’s stock was i nsufficient direct
harm to shareholders); Erlich v. dasner, 418 F.2d 226, 228 (9th
Cr. 1969) (holding that stockhol der, who was presi dent and general
manager of corporation, could not maintain individual action under
section 1983).
Concl usi on

We hold that Bellow is not entitled to recover any damages
under section 1981. Even if Bellow did have sone undefi ned,
inplied contractual relationship with PICI, nothing in the record
supports the jury' s conclusion that Anpbco in any way altered,
nodi fied, or term nated any of his rights thereunder or to contract
with PICI.?® For these reasons, the judgnment bel ow i s REVERSED and
judgnent is here RENDERED for Anoco.

REVERSED and RENDERED

28 Mor eover, we question whether Bellowwas entitled to an award
of “subjective” danages. In particular, we do not believe that
Bellow s testinony that Anbco’s al |l eged discrimnatory acts caused
himto feel “less than a man” and “ruined his reputation as a nan,”

W t hout nore, sufficiently supports the award of enoti onal danages.
Nor is there any other evidence supporting such an award. See,
e.g., Patterson v. P.H P. Healthcare Corp., 90 F.3d 927, 938-39
(5th Gr. 1996) (reversing $40,000 award for enotional distress
under section 1981 where only evidence of enotional distress was
plaintiff’s own testinony that he felt “frustrated” and “real bad”;
that his work environnment was “unbearable” and was “tearing ny
sel f-esteemdown”; and that he felt “angry” and “paranoi d” because
his supervisor referred to himas a “porch nonkey” or “nigger”),
cert. denied, 117 S.C. 767 (1997). Bellow did not testify about
any physical harmor injuries, nor did he testify about any stress,
enotional pain, or other simlar conditions.

However, we need not reach the nerits of this issue. Nor do
we need to address Anobco’'s contention that the evidence fails to
support the jury’ s finding of intentional racial discrimnation and
award of $225,000 in punitive danages.
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